S185457

S

Filing Fee Exempt Govt' Code § 6103

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF ALHAMBRA, et al.,

SUPREME COURT FILED

Plaintiffs and Appellants

AUG 16 2010

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, et al., Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Defendants and Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

. Of a Published Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal

Reversing a Judgment Entered by the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC116375

Honorable James Chalfant, Presiding

[By C.C.P. § 638 Reference to the Hon. Dzintra Janavs (Ret.)]

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does section 97.75 implicitly repeal section 95.3's requirement that each city is responsible for the pro rata share of PTAF associated with all property tax revenues it receives and, in effect, impliedly give the cities' new tax shares the same PTAF exemption granted to schools expressly?

A highly experienced trial judge answered "No." A highly experienced appellate panel answered "Yes." For reasons explained briefly below, the Court of Appeal has erred and, in effect, rewritten section 97.75. Regardless of the ultimate outcome, this important issue should be reviewed and settled by this Court now.

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This is the lead case presenting a common claim affecting virtually every city and county in California. Similar claims (and, in at least one instance, a lawsuit) have been asserted across the State and are trailing in the wake of this case. The stakes involved are far too high for other counties to acquiesce in a mistaken appellate ruling. Inevitably, the same legal theories and defenses will be brought and pursued through superior and appellate courts across the State. Each impending new suit carries the possibility for a different interpretation and a different outcome. Each conflicting decision will, in turn, bring wasteful expense and uncertainty. Granting this Petition would prevent such waste, promote uniformity of decision, and settle an important question of law that affects cities and counties throughout the State.

The stark financial consequences of an erroneous decision underscore the importance of this case.³ In this time of fiscal crisis — with inevitable State

² Precisely because of the importance of the issue, the parties stipulated below to have the case heard by reference to the Hon. Dzintra Janavas (Ret.), a respected and highly experienced Los Angeles Superior Court writs and receivers judge.

³ For example, Los Angeles County faces more than \$60 million in potential repayment exposure for prior years and lost funding on a go forward basis. Such

pressure on local revenues — counties have no ability to replace lost recoupment dollars, much less cover the spate of refund claims that will follow if this Decision is allowed to stand. Further, depriving counties of the resources needed to adequately fund an efficient property tax administration system ultimately will harm every recipient local agency and jurisdiction, because proper funding is the key to robust revenue collection. Our Legislature recognized this long ago, when it passed one of many statutes designed to enhance property tax funding and expressly noted a "significant and compelling state financial interest in the maintenance of an adequately funded system of property tax administration." (Section 95.35(a).)⁴

In sum, not only is the Court of Appeal's Decision erroneous (for reasons we shall explain below), but it sanctions dubious policy that, unless corrected now, will harm all concerned, including, in the long run, the plaintiff cities themselves. Review should be granted to resolve this question of widespread public importance, and to establish a uniform rule applicable to all cities and counties in this State.

BACKGROUND AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Property Tax Collection, The Impact Of Proposition 13, And Emergence Of The Longstanding Rule Of Pro-Rata Recoupment

Historically, counties had limited means to recoup PTAF from the various entities benefiting from counties' assessment, collection, and allocation efforts. Prior to the adoption of Proposition 13 in 1978,⁵ this limitation imposed no burden because counties were free to set countywide property tax rates at a level sufficient

a blow would both aggravate the County's current fiscal crisis and severely handicap tax administration.

⁴ The State has a constitutional obligation to fund education, and schools are the largest recipient of property tax revenues. Thus, every property tax dollar allocated to schools frees a dollar otherwise due schools from the State's General Fund.

⁵ Cal. Const., art. XIIIA.

to enable them to recoup administration costs from the taxpayers countywide. With Proposition 13's constitutional cap on the amount of property tax that could be collected, however, the counties' ability to recoup PTAF vanished, even though property tax administration was becoming increasingly burdensome and complex.⁶

Recognizing the unfairness of this situation, the Legislature, in 1990, passed a general recoupment rule that, with an exception for school entities, still is in place today. (Section 95.3.) In creating recoupment authority, the Legislature expressed its intent "to recognize that since the adoption of Article XIIIA of the California Constitution by the voters, county governments have borne an unfair and disproportionate part of the financial burden of assessing, collecting, and allocating property tax revenues for other jurisdictions and for redevelopment agencies." (Section 95.3(e).)

In operation, section 95.3 does three things. First, section 95.3(a) provides that the PTAF responsibility for each individual agency or jurisdiction is its percentage share of total countywide property tax revenues.⁷ Next, Section 95.3(b) mandates that, with the exception of funds earmarked for schools, each recipient's cost share is deducted from the property tax revenues otherwise allocable to it. Finally, section 95.3(d) mandates that every dollar recouped must fund property tax administration. But, because property taxes allocated to schools do not contribute recoupment, counties always pay far more than their proportionate share of PTAF, as the Legislature has recognized and lamented.

⁶ 1 JA 46 [Stip. No. 6]; 3 JA 547. (Citations to "__ JA __" are to the volume and applicable page numbers of the Joint Appendix below; citations to "RB" are to the Respondent's Brief; a copy of the Court of Appeal's decision ("Dec.") is attached a the end of this Petition.)

As explained in the Respondent's Brief below, and as the Court of Appeal agrees, PTAF recoupment is driven by the post-Proposition 13 tax share scheme pursuant to section 96.1, which serves as the master statute. (RB at 9-19; Dec. at p. 4.)

(Section 95.3(b)(2); see also section 95.35(a) [quantifying disproportionate burden].)

B. The Exemption Of PTAF Recoupment For Taxes Devoted To School Funding

As mentioned above, the Legislature ultimately chose to exempt from PTAF recoupment those revenues devoted to funding education. The reason for that exemption is apparent: Every dollar of PTAF recoupment from schools is a dollar the State must replace out of its General Fund. The evolution of the recoupment rule (and its exemption) confirms the State's fiscal motivation.

- As originally enacted in 1990, the recoupment rule was absolute: Every local agency or jurisdiction receiving property tax revenues, including schools, was obligated for its pro rata share of PTAF. (Stats. 1990, ch. 466, Section 4 (SB 2557) [amending Rev. & Tax. Code section 97].)8
- In 1991, in an emerging recessionary budget crisis, the Legislature exempted schools from PTAF recoupment. (Stats. 1991, ch. 75, Section 1 (SB 188); ch. 333, Section 3 (SB 282).)
- In 1992, with budget problems worsening, the Legislature began requiring local governments and agencies to shift part of their allocated property tax shares to the Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund (ERAF) to be used to offset the State's funding obligation for education. Attempting to minimize the harm to property tax administration, however, the Legislature:

 (i) provided that counties still could recoup from schools the PTAF associated with revenues allocated to the ERAF; and (ii) "found" that such recoupment would not impact the State's financial obligation for school funding (i.e., that the State would not have to make up the PTAF dollars recouped on ERAF funds). (Stats. 1992, ch. 697, Section 14 (SB 1559).)

⁸ See also *Arcadia Redevelopment Agency v. Ikemoto* (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 444, 454 [quoting legislative findings clarifying original recoupment rule and legislative history].

- In 1993, with the crisis worsening, the Legislature did away with recoupment for funds allocated to ERAFs. (Stats. 1993, ch. 66, Section 35.5 (SB 399).)
- In 1994, the Legislature moved the recoupment rule to section 95.3. (Stats. 1994, ch. 1167, Section 6 (AB 3347).)
- Finally, in 1996, the Legislature amended section 95.3 to confirm that property tax revenues allocated to ERAFs were exempt from PTAF recoupment although the statutory definition of "school entities" already compelled that conclusion. (Stats. 1996, ch. 1073, Section 1 (AB 1055).) The Legislature acknowledged that the underfunded property tax administration system resulting from its exemption for schools would be "to the great detriment of both the counties and taxpayers." (*Id.*) And, recognizing the unfairness to counties, the Legislature promised to rectify at least a part of that unfairness in the future. (Section 95.3(b)(2).)

Through these various enactments, the Legislature's intent is clear, unmistakable and express. It was (and is) vitally interested in adequately-funded property tax administration systems. It exempted schools (and later ERAF school funding) from PTAF recoupment grudgingly and in baby steps. It did so not because it was hostile to recoupment, but because the burden of funding amid never-ending budget shortfalls made it expedient to create the exemption. Even then, the Legislature was aware of the adverse consequences for property tax administration, and stated an express intent to enhance funding through future legislation.

C. More Recent Statutes Reiterate The Legislature's Pro-Recoupment Intent

With the exception of its exemption for school entities, every act taken by the Legislature since 1990 has enhanced funding for property tax administration.

⁹ Section 95(f).

In 1995, the Legislature passed section 95.31 to authorize loans to fund property tax administration. (See also section 95.31(e) [loans shall not reduce amounts county is entitled to recoup under section 95.3].) In 2001, the Legislature passed section 95.35 to provide relief for counties in the form of grants. The Legislature found and declared that:

[T]here is a significant and compelling state financial interest in the maintenance of an adequately funded system of property tax administration. . . . The Legislature also finds and declares that the State-County Property Tax Loan Program contained in Section 95.31 was in recognition of the state's financial interest, and the success of that program has demonstrated the appropriateness of an ongoing commitment of state funds to reduce the burden of property tax administration on county finances. Therefore, it is the intent of the Legislature, in enacting this act, to establish a grant program . . .[to] maintain the commitment to efficient property tax administration.

(Section 95.35(a) [emphasis added]; see also section 95.35(f) [grants shall not reduce amounts county is entitled to recoup under section 95.3].)

In other words, the Legislature recognized that there is a direct correlation between the amount of funding for property tax administration and the amount of property tax revenues collected, with better funding yielding higher revenues. And, in point of fact, empirical studies immediately predating this statute have concluded that, on average, every additional \$1 of funding for property tax administration yields in the range of \$11 to \$14 in additional revenues collected. ¹⁰

D. Triple Flip, VLF Swap, and Additional Recoupment

The PTAF for which local jurisdictions have been responsible has ebbed and flowed in direct proportion to the amount of property tax revenues allocated to

¹⁰ 2 JA 386. Although the accuracy of these findings was undisputed, the trial court below ruled such studies were irrelevant.

them. In 1990, when the Legislature first provided for recoupment of PTAF, there was no such thing as an ERAF, and allocated revenues and PTAF both were proportionally higher. When ERAFs were established, a portion of the property tax revenues allocated to some local jurisdictions was diverted to school funding, and allocated revenues and PTAF recoupment both decreased proportionally.

In reallocating property tax revenues away from ERAFs pursuant to the Triple Flip and VLF Swap, the Legislature essentially has come full circle, restoring to cities and counties property taxes that (i) originally had been allocated to local agencies and subject to recoupment, but (ii) later had been diverted to ERAFs for school funding (and, hence, exempt from recoupment). It is these legislative changes that give rise to the instant dispute.

The "Triple Flip." During the 2003-2004 fiscal year, the State took a portion of sales tax revenues that had been levied by cities and counties and allocated ("flipped") them to fund a borrowing — economic recovery bonds — whose proceeds went to the State. In order to compensate for that revenue loss to local government, the State provided that each city and county receive property tax revenues that otherwise would have gone to the ERAF (the second "flip"), and then replaced from the State's General Fund (now augmented by bond proceeds) the funds that local schools no longer received from the ERAF (the third "flip"). (Section 97.68.)

The "VLF Swap." During fiscal year 2004-2005, the Legislature provided for another swap of revenues. This time, the Legislature: (i) permanently reduced the tax rate on vehicle license fees constitutionally dedicated to counties and cities; and (ii) replaced the revenue shortfalls with property tax revenues that otherwise would have been gone into the ERAF. (Section 97.70.) The formula for the substituted revenues began by approximating the lost VLF revenues, but in practice necessarily increased revenues for most counties and cities.¹¹

¹¹ See 2 JA 450-457 [¶¶ 8-19 & Exs. 1-2].

As a consequence of these statutes, in most counties (including Los Angeles County), ERAFs now exist in name only, as dollars that would have been allocated to ERAFs flow instead to cities and counties.¹² Thus, the State returned to where it began in 1990: It has restored to local agencies property tax revenues that (i) local agencies had received before the Legislature created ERAFs, and (ii) originally had been fully subject to PTAF recoupment.

Rev. & Tax Code Section 97.75. We arrive at the statute at the center of this mandamus proceeding. When it passed the VLF Swap, the Legislature also passed Section 97.75, which provides in full:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, for the 2004-05 and 2005-06 fiscal years, a county shall not impose a fee, charge, or other levy on a city, nor reduce a city's allocation of ad valorem property tax revenue, in reimbursement for the services performed by the county under Sections 97.68 and 97.70. For the 2006-07 fiscal year and each fiscal year thereafter, a county may impose a fee, charge, or other levy on a city for these services, but the fee, charge, or other levy shall not exceed the actual cost of providing these services.

The plaintiff cities allege, and the Court of Appeal now has concluded, that this statute forever forbade the County from recouping the underlying costs of assessing and collecting the increased tax shares now allocated to the cities.

E. Counties' Interpretation and Implementation of Section 97.75

As the trial court below later would recognize, there were two possible ways to read section 97.75, depending upon how one interpreted the undefined term "services." On the one hand, it was possible to interpret the word "services" as intending to deal only with the *incremental, new* services associated with accounting for the Triple Flip and VLF Swap (which even the cities and Court of

¹² 2 JA 448-449 [¶¶ 4-6].

Flip and VLF Swap amounts to approximately \$35,000 per year. (Dec. at p. 9.) This disparity explains the motivation for this suit.

F. The Trial Court Rules Against The Cities, And The Court of Appeal Reverses

Through this mandamus proceeding, the cities alleged that section 97.75: (i) plainly forbade the County from recovering this \$5 million not just for the first two fiscal years (the only years as to which section 97.75 prohibited recoupment of anything), but forever; and (ii) after the first two fiscal years, allowed the County to recover just the \$35,000 incremental cost required to account for the additional tax shares being allocated under the Triple Flip and VLF Swap.

In rejecting the cities' claim and holding that the County had faithfully followed the law, the trial court began by recognizing that, had Section 97.75 not been enacted, section 95.3 would have allowed the counties to recoup all PTAF associated with the additional tax shares allocated to cities under the Triple Flip and VLF Swap statutes. Turning to section 97.75, the trial court noted the ambiguity in the undefined term "services" and ultimately concluded that, through section 97.75, the Legislature intended to set forth the rules regarding recoupment of all PTAF associated with the cities' additional new tax shares. The trial court then: (i) found nothing demonstrating a legislative intent either to forbid PTAF recoupment beyond the two years expressly identified in section 97.75 or to limit recoupment to incremental costs; and (ii) held that it was powerless to rewrite the statute to supply what the Legislature had seen fit to omit. 16

The Court of Appeal read the same statute very differently and reversed. The bulk of the appellate decision is devoted to disagreeing with the trial court's conclusion that section 97.75 was concerned with the cost of all services necessary

¹⁴ 3 JA 574.

¹⁵ 3 JA 572-573.

¹⁶ 3 JA 574-575.

Appeal agree could be recovered beginning with fiscal year 2006-07). With this interpretation, though, it follows that section 97.75 would be irrelevant to the issue of whether the County could recoup the cost of the *traditional*, *underlying* services associated with assessing and collecting the additional revenues being allocated to the cities under the Triple Flip and VLF Swap. Instead, the issue of recoupment of the cost of such *underlying* services would continue to be governed by section 95.3, which would permit recoupment of such costs in all fiscal years.

On the other hand, it was possible to interpret section 97.75 as intending to embrace all "services" associated with collecting the additional property tax revenues being allocated to cities under the Triple Flip and the VLF Swap — including, in addition to the incremental new services required to allocate the new tax shares, and the underlying services required to assess and collect the tax shares being allocated. Under this interpretation, counties would be forbidden from recouping *any* PTAF associated with those revenues for the first two fiscal years, but would be authorized to recoup *all* associated PTAF for fiscal year 2006-07 and each fiscal year thereafter.

The California State Association of County Auditors Accounting Standards Committee issued Uniform Guidelines to implement section 97.75 and related statutes. The Guidelines adopted the latter, "all services," interpretation, and Los Angeles County (along with virtually all other counties across the State) have followed them.¹³

The total actual cost associated with assessing and collecting the additional tax shares allocated to cities under the Triple Flip and VLF Swap amounts to approximately \$5 million per year for the 47 plaintiff cities alone. Conversely, the cost of providing incremental new services to technically account for the Triple

¹³ 1 JA 94-95 [Appendix A, Schedules K1 & K2]; 2 JA 461-462 [Linschoten Decl.]; 2 JA 449-450 [¶ 7]; see also Dec. at p. 8 [recognizing that County was acting consistently with Guidelines].

to assess, collect and allocate the cities' additional tax shares under the Triple Flip and VLF Swap (as opposed to simply the incremental new apportionment services). Had the Court of Appeal stopped there, the County would not have pursued this Petition. But, the Court of Appeal went on to conclude that, by providing express authority for counties to recover their incremental new costs from cities, section 97.75 somehow plainly, permanently and impliedly trumped section 95.3 recoupment of the underlying costs associated with assessing and collecting the cities' additional tax shares. It is that further conclusion that the County asks this Court to review.

ARGUMENT

Recognizing that full merits briefing is not called for here, the County limits its points to three themes: logical consistency; harmony with the statutory scheme; and the Decision's policy implications.

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