## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

### STATE OF CALIFORNIA

City of Alhambra, et al. Plaintiffs and Appellants

SUPREME COURT FILED

VS.

SEP 2 - 2010

County of Los Angeles, et al. Defendants and Respondents.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Of a Published Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal

Reversing a Judgment Entered by the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC116375 [By CCP § 638 Reference to the Hon. Dzintra Janavs (Ret.)]

Michael G. Colantuono (SBN 143551) mcolantuono@cllaw.us Holly O. Whatley (SBN 160259) hwhatley@cllaw.us

#### INTRODUCTION

While the stakes in this case for the County of Los Angeles and the 88 cities within it are substantial, the legal issues are not: the Court of Appeal applied well-established rules of statutory construction to the plain language of a single Revenue & Taxation Code section to arrive at the very result achieved in the only other case to consider the issue. If the Second District's careful and detailed application of those fundamental rules has not achieved the legislative purpose, the Legislature can easily correct the error, and this Court need not apply its limited resources to do so. Nor is there any evidence of a lack of legislative solicitude for the concerns of counties in this regard, as is evidenced by the other legislation on this very subject obtained at the behest of counties and cited in the Petition.

Simply put, no conflict of law exists on the issue; no conflicting precedents need resolution. Accordingly, this Court should decline the County's invitation to create a conflict where none exists simply to rewrite a statute the County dislikes. The Court of Appeal aptly summed up this case in the final sentence of its well reasoned decision: "In the end, it is up to the Legislature not the courts to rewrite the statute." (Decision, p. 19.)

#### LEGAL DISCUSSION

## I. Review Is Unnecessary Because No Conflict of Law Exists

This Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision "when necessary to secure uniformity of decision or settle an important question of law." (California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1).) In the instant case, however no conflict appears, and the Court of Appeal decision is sufficient to the settle the question. Indeed, the underlying decision is the sole appellate case interpreting Revenue & Taxation Code § 97.75, published or otherwise. The only other suit interpreting § 97.751 was filed in Fresno County, City of Clovis et al. v. County of Fresno et al. (Super. Ct. Fresno County, 2010, No. 08 CE CG03535 AMC), and, consistently with the Court of Appeal's subsequent conclusion here, resulted in a writ of mandate against the County of Fresno on the grounds that it had improperly interpreted § 97.75 to withhold thousands of dollars of property taxes from its cities. The Second District decided this case after the County of Fresno appealed that decision to the Fifth District, which is now pending as Case No. F060148. No contrary Court of Appeal ruling has issued in the Fresno matter, and the County of Los Angeles has presented no grounds to support its wishful assumption that one will. Moreover, should the Fifth District disagree with the Second, undoubtedly a Petition for Review will arise in the Fresno case,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unspecified section references in this Answer are to the Revenue & Taxation Code.

presenting a square conflict worthy of this Court's attention. Section 97.75 need not detain this Court now.

Thus, one trial court and one Court of Appeal have consistently interpreted the plain language of § 97.75 to authorize counties to charge cities **only** the incremental costs associated with the additional accounting services required by §§ 97.68 (Triple Flip) and 97.70 (VLF Swap). In this so-called "Great Recession," cities, no less than counties, have need of the money at issue in this case and all local governments need certainty above all. It will do Los Angeles County little good to continue to receive – and spend – funds to which it is not entitled while this case is pending in this Court. Since the Court of Appeal persuasively demonstrated the Legislature's intent and the only other trial court decision to date is consistent with it, certainty can be provided by denial of review. Accordingly the Cities which were petitioners in the court below ("the Cities") respectfully urge this Court to deny the Petition.

# II. The Court Of Appeal Correctly Applied Basic Statutory Rules of Construction to Interpret Revenue & Taxation Code § 97.75

The Petition presents the issue whether the Legislature intended the older, more general § 95.3 to control over the recently-enacted more specific § 97.75.<sup>2</sup>

The answer, as Second District Court of Appeal correctly decided, is "no."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This Answer does not emphasize a counter-question to the argumentative question posed by the Petition because the Cities do not believe any question in

Section 97.75, enacted in 2004 – a decade after § 95.3's grant of general authority to impose property tax administration fees (PTAF) – specifically addresses the County's authority to charge Cities to implement the Triple Flip and the VLF Swap mandated by §§ 97.68 and 97.70, respectively. The Court of Appeal utilized long established and well understood rules of statutory construction to find that the County's practice of charging petitioner Cities over \$4.8 million in the 2006-07 fiscal year and \$5.3 million in 2007-08 fiscal year for services it admits cost only \$35,000<sup>3</sup> violated both the plain language and legislative intent of § 97.75.

## A. The Court of Appeal Implemented § 97.75's Plain Language

As it must, the Court of Appeal looked first to the plain language of the statute to interpret the disputed term "services." The County argues that "services" includes all the services it provides under §§ 95.3 and 96.1 to operate the property tax system, from assessing properties to foreclosing on delinquencies. However, as the Court of Appeal aptly observed:

this case merits review. However, were this Court to grant review, a more appropriately framed question would be: "Did the Court of Appeal correctly construe Revenue & Taxation Code § 97.75 to provide that counties may recover their actual, marginal costs to implement the VLF Swap and Triple Flip but may not reallocate their entire cost to administer the property tax system in light of property taxes paid in lieu of vehicle license fees and sales taxes under those measures?"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The County stipulated to this \$35,000 cost. (Stip. Fact No. 16; 1 JA 49.)

Looking at the words of Revenue and Taxation Code section 97.75 alone, they reveal the clear intent that "services" are those that counties render pursuant to the Triple Flip (§ 97.68) and VLF Swap (§ 97.70) *only*.

(Decision, p. 13, original emphasis.) The services provided under §§ 97.68 and 97.70 do not include "the additional activities for equalizing, assessing and collecting property tax, processing appeals, or otherwise administering the property tax system as a whole." (Decision, p. 13.) Thus, the plain language of the statute demonstrates the Legislature's intent that § 97.75's authorization to recover costs does not include any "traditional PTAF-generating" tasks. (Decision, p. 14.)

The County finds fault with the Court of Appeal's use of the word "only," noting that word does not appear in § 97.75. (Petition, p. 16, fn. 20.) However, the Court of Appeal does not wrongly import the word "only" into § 97.75 by reading its closed list of the "actual costs" that might be recovered (*i.e.*, the costs to implement the VLF Swap and Triple Flip) as the "only" elements of that express statutory list. To describe the effect of a statute in words other than a statute used is the essential explicatory role of a court engaged in statutory construction. Doing so does not read language into a statute, and the County's claim to the contrary may be skillful rhetoric, but it is not persuasive legal analysis.

## B. The Court of Appeal Properly Interpreted § 97.75 in Its Legislative Context

The County mistakenly argues the Court of Appeal failed to interpret § 97.75 in its context by reading it to exclude services under §§ 95.3 and 96.1 from the limited scope of the authority to impose PTAF conferred by § 97.75. Again, however, the Court of Appeal applied basic rules of statutory construction to construe § 97.75. The court recognized, as it must, that § 97.75 begins with the phrase "Notwithstanding any other provisions of law..." (Decision, p. 15.) This phrase, the court found:

[C]learly indicates the Legislature's intent that section 97.75 govern the fees for administering the Triple Flip and VLF Swap regardless of any *earlier* enacted statutes governing the assessment and collection of property tax administration fees in general, such as section 95.3.

(Decision, p. 15, original emphasis.) Consequently, the specific § 97.75, adopted in 2004 simultaneously with the Triple Flip and VLF Swap to which it applies, controls over the decade-older, more general §§ 95.3 and 96.1, which govern PTAF generally. (Decision, pp. 14, 18.)

Thus, contrary to the County's claims, the Court of Appeal did not ignore context and rule that § 97.75 impliedly repealed § 95.3. Rather, it specifically noted the context and held that § 97.75 did not repeal § 95.3, but set forth an express exception to it:

[T]he Legislature intended that section 97.75 stand alone with respect to the administrative costs incurred in performing the services for the Triple Flip and VLF Swap, while assuring that counties would still be reimbursed for those efforts."

(Decision, pp. 15-16.) Consequently, the court properly found that the Legislature intended not harmony between the general PTAF statutes and § 97.75; but rather that the newer provision create an express exception to the earlier, more general rules. The Legislature did so to avoid the very multi-million dollar windfall that the County of Los Angeles has nevertheless taken for itself here.

# C. The Court of Appeal Property Ignored the Counties' Underground Guidelines in Interpreting § 97.75

As it did in the lower courts, the County relies on Guidelines issued by the California State Association of County Auditors to support its convolute interpretation of § 97.75. The Court of Appeal properly rejected this argument: "The Guidelines were not vetted under the Administrative Procedure Act and, as

the parties stipulate, they 'do not have the force of law." (Decision, p. 19, fn. 10.)

This was proper. That many county Auditors assert their right to withhold city property taxes to augment funding for their offices does not confer that right.

An administrative agency cannot alter or enlarge the legislation, and an erroneous administrative construction does not govern the court's interpretation of the statute.

(Hewlett v. Squaw Valley Ski Corp. (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 499, 526.)

Moreover, counties, and their auditors, are not disinterested observers of the property tax allocation system, but the largest beneficiaries of it. Deferring to a cash-strapped county's allocation of scarce property tax dollars during the "Great Recession" is akin to allowing one of several thirsty people in a desert carte blanche to administer the party's water supply. Other recent decisions illustrate the hazards of allowing county Auditors to act without as judicial scrutiny when their interpretations of the Revenue & Taxation Code can inflate county coffers by millions of dollars. (See, e.g., *Los Angeles Unified School District v. County of Los Angeles* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 414 [Los Angeles County improperly reduced school district's share of redevelopment agency pass-through payments,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Section 96.1(c) provides that, if either the State Controller or the State Department of Finance adopts the Auditors' Guidelines regulations consistently with the notice and comment procedures of the Administrative Procedures Act, they will be deemed correct unless clarified by legislation or court decision. To date, however, the Auditors have never subjected their underground rules to the discipline of the APA process. Accordingly, the Guidelines remain the private view of county Auditors, whose own funding is at stake here.

and increased the County's share, by hundreds of millions of dollars]; see also, City of Scotts Valley v. County of Santa Cruz et al, 1st District Court of Appeal Case No. A126357, appeal of Superior Court of San Mateo County, Case No. 467230 [Pending appeal of trial court's conclusion San Mateo County improperly interpreted Rev. & Tax Code § 98 to wrongfully withhold \$2 million of property taxes from Scotts Valley over three years].)

## D. The Court of Appeal Properly Ignored the Alleged Overpayment of VLF In-Lieu Fees

As it did in the Court of Appeal, the County asks this Court to ignore § 97.75's mandate because the VLF Swap has allegedly netted cities and counties more property tax revenue than they lost in VLF fees because of the rising real estate market that characterized most of the last decade. (Petition, p. 18.) In other words, § 97.75 should be ignored because Cities "were not really harmed."

Properly, the Court of Appeal rejected this argument out of hand: "It is not our task to rewrite section 97.75 to offset perceived inequity created by another statute, in this case section 97.70." (Decision, p. 19.) Notably, though the County claims the Cities have benefitted from the VLF Swap, it is the County itself that is the largest single beneficiary, as it receives VLF Swap funds on the same terms as do Cities and its revenues are larger than those of any City. (Rev. & Tax. Code § 97.70(b)(1).) Thus, any alleged "benefit" to Cities is enjoyed in greater amounts by the County. Moreover, by including in its PTAF calculation the purported

"boon" to the cities and counties from the VLF Swap, the County receives a double windfall, for it receives both the authorized property taxes paid to replace payments in lieu of vehicle license fees which the State had previously made from the State general fund **and** unauthorized PTAF taken from cities, for which no backfill is provided to anyone.

Still further, as recent events have shown, what goes up can also come down. The windfall of property taxes paid in lieu of VLF during the booming housing market will not continue in the current housing market in which assessed valuations are falling at an historic rate. Cities and counties both will share in this economic reality. Thus, a temporary upswing in property taxes paid in lieu of VLF tells us little to countermand the express language of § 97.75 in issue here.

In sum, the County's argument here does not withstand the considered reasoning of the Court of Appeal.

## III. The County Gives No Meaning to § 97.75's Second Sentence

The County argues that the sole purpose of § 97.75 was to exempt the VLF Swap and Triple Flip funds from inclusion in the PTAF calculation for two fiscal years – 2004-05 and 2005-06. The Court of Appeal properly rejected this conclusion. If § 97.75 were meant only to exempt the VLF Swap and Triple Flip from PTAF for two years, then the last sentence of the statute would be wholly unnecessary. The statute reads, in full:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, for the 2004-05 and 2005-06 fiscal years, a county shall not impose a fee, charge, or other levy on a city, nor reduce a city's allocation of ad valorem property tax revenue, in reimbursement for the services performed by the county under Sections 97.68 and 97.70. For the 2006-07 fiscal year and each fiscal year thereafter, a county may impose a fee, charge, or other levy on a city for these services, but the fee, charge, or other levy shall not exceed the actual cost of providing these services.

Why would the Legislature state that, beginning in 2006-2007 counties may charge for "these services," limited to the actual costs, if – as the County urges – § 95.3 applies to authorize such charges regardless of § 97.75?

This interpretation renders the second sentence § 97.75 surplus, a result foreclosed by long-established rules of statutory construction. The interpretation that gives effect to the second sentence is the one articulated by the Court of Appeal, which limits the County's recovery under § 97.75 to its annual costs to administer the VLF Swap and Triple Flip.

## IV. The County's Alleged Financial Distress Does Not Justify Review

In large part, the County bases its plea for review on the financial burden it will face to comply with § 97.75. That large sums of money turn on the meaning of a simple, two-sentence statute does not alone justify review in this Court. Were dollars at stake alone sufficient to justify review, every large-dollar tort case would clutter this Court's docket.

Moreover, as this Court has held, financial distress is no bar to a writ of mandate. Rising costs do not justify the failure to comply with statutory obligations. *May v. Board of Dir. of El Camino Irr. Dist.* (1949) 34 Cal.2d 125, 134 (financial stress on agency is not a defense to a writ action to compel compliance with law.) Any difficulty the County may face in complying with § 97.75's limits is one of its own making and does not provide grounds for review in this Court of an otherwise straightforward case of statutory interpretation.<sup>5</sup>

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